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SUMMARY

Belleview School/City Hall is located at 5343 SE Abshier Boulevard, in the City of Belleview, Marion
County, Florida, on Lot 4 of Block 61, in the NE 1/4 of Section 36, Township 16 South, Range 22 East.
Constructed in 1928, the one story, Mediterranean Revival style , stuccoed brick building has Spanish Eclectic
and Mission style influences. The Belleview School/City Hall retains its original compound (H) exterior plan,
and no additions or alterations in the size or configuration of the original structure have been made to the
building.

SETTING

The City of Belleview, first settled 1884, is located in Marion County just south of Ocala, the county
seat. Belleview currently has a population of 3,463 inhabitants. SE Abshier Boulevard or Highway 441/ 301/
27, the main thoroughfare through the City, is also known as the Dixie Highway, and historically as the Old
Wire Road. The main commercial area of Belleview is situated along this busy highway. Businesses line both
sides of the street. Large oak and sycamore and other trees form a canopy along the frontage of Lot 4 and the
five lane, paved SE Abshier Boulevard. More large oaks and tall long leaf, yellow pines overhang the west side
of the 1928 Belleview School/City Hall and provide shade for the paved parking area on the south side (front
elevation) of the building. A grassy slope sweeps down and northward behind the rear parking area and on the
west side of Belleview School/ City Hall. (Photos 3,4, and 5)

A covered walkway leads from the rear entrance of Belleview School/City Hall to a one story masonry
vernacular (concrete block) cafeteria/storage building built around 1949. (Photo 6) West of the paved front
parking area and adjacent to the highway is. a (c1935) noncontributing frame vernacular SCL Railroad Depot
that was moved to this site in 1982 to serve as an office for the Belleview Chamber of Commerce. (Photo 7) A
porch was also added after the building was moved to the site.

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION OF CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES
School
Exterior
Belleview School/ City Hall, is located in a prominent position highly visible to passersby, with the front

entrances (two) facing southwest. (Photo 1) The building exhibits high style in the form of the Spanish Eclectic
and Mission influences, reflecting the importance given to education during the prosperity of the 1920s in
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Belleview and Marion County. (Photo 2) It has a compound (H) shaped ground plan, with a rectangular main
block and stepped forward and back west and east wings. A cross gabled roof over the main block intersects
front gabled roofs over the west and east wings. The original deteriorated, asphalt, interlocking roof shingles
were replaced by fiberglass shingles in 1989. Stuccoed masonry columns rise above the shaped parapets of both
wings. (Photo 3) Shaped parapets (Mission style) rise above the front and rear gable ends of the west wing and
the front of the east wing. There is a chimney concealed in the column on the southwest corner of the west
wing.

The arched front entrance to the west wing is protected by a front gabled overhang supported by
stuccoed masonry columns. (Photo 4) There is a quatrefoil shaped vent on the front gable end of the west wing
and round vents on the rear gable end of the west wing and both gable ends and of the east wing. (Photo 4) The
west elevation entrance to the west wing and the east wing entrance also feature front gabled overhangs
supported by boxed wood, half columns over masonry bases. A concrete platform/outdoor stage was erected in
1989, near but not touching the rear of the west (auditorium) wing. (Photo 5) The gabled entrance overhang of
the rear elevation of the east wing is supported by iron pipes. A tower element with shaped parapets on its gable
roof has the original barrel tiles and three arched louvered, vented openings on the front and rear elevations and
one opening on each side elevation. (Photo 9) The base of the tower contains an arched arcade entrance to the
main block with replacement entrance landings and steps. (Photo 10)

The fenestration emphasizes the rectangular massing of the main block with a ribbon of five windows,
with 1 set paired and 2 single windows, all six over six paned windows, on the front elevation, and two ribbons
of five windows on the rear elevation, separated by paired windows. (Photo 11) The west and east wings have
single windows. (Photos 4, 5 and 11)

Interior

The interior of the Belleview School was adapted for use as offices and Commission
Chambers/Auditorium/storage, for the City of Belleview, which acquired the building in 1965. The 3rd and 4th
grade classroom space in the east wing is now used as a Commission Room with a raised platform where the
Commission members are seated (See also 1965 - 1995 Floor plan). The floor plans of the west wing
(auditorium), main building, and east wing are rectangular. All load bearing walls were maintained, as most of
the Belleview School classrooms were partitioned to accommodate the adaptive reuse of the Building for
Belleview City Hall offices and the Police Department. Short entries with double doors were located inside the
main entrance and east wing entrance. (Photo 12)
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The original wood floors with wide baseboards extend throughout the building, with wide moldings
surrounding interior door openings of the corridors and school rooms, commission room and offices. A north/
south corridor crosses the main corridor in the east wing. (Photo 13) An office and large classrooms opened off
the main corridors, with a small area in the rear of the east wing which served as a cafeteria until the annex was
built around 1949. (see 1928 - 1965 Floor plan).

The Belleview School auditorium was used for storage by the City of Belleview until the 1995
restoration/renovation. Originally, the west wing/auditorium contained an entry area with storage closets and a
stairway to a crawl space below. Also a single door opening with wide moldings at each side led into the large
rectangular auditorium. Now, double doors connect the auditorium to the full length east/west corridor with
load bearing walls, of the main building and east wing and to the exterior east exit of the east wing. (Photo 15)
The crawl space stairway has been removed. Steps lead to the proscenium and stage. (Photo 16) A sloped
wood floor enhances the acoustics in the seating area. A historic double seat from the school auditorium is
stored in the basement. (Photo 17) The original 1885 Belleview School Bell was restored and sits on a base in
the southwest corner of the auditorium. Its peal still rings out clearly whenever a former student responds to the
urge to hear it once again. The “Crystal Metal Frame Bell” was manufactured by the C.S. Bell Company of
Hillsboro, Ohio. (Photo 8)

A partial basement beneath the main building once was accessed by a steep wood stairway from the
main corridor. The brick walled basement has 8 foot ceilings and houses the building’s mechanical equipment.
A small room in the northwest corner contained a large boiler/ heating equipment. The room once had an exit
to the outside, but it is now sealed. A deep well in the concrete floor for overflows or drainage remains. (Photo

18)

Alterations

The west elevation entrance to the west wing and the east and rear elevations of the east wing shed roof
overhangs were replaced with front gabled overhangs supported by wood columns. The original exterior door
openings were maintained except for the west side entrance to the west wing, where the existing door opening
was bricked in and stuccoed and a new exterior door opening was installed in an existing window opening. The
basement door on the rear (north) elevation was sealed and stuccoed, the stairway to the ground level was
removed and the area was filled and graded. A free standing concrete handicapped ramp was installed near the
front elevation to permit access to the building in accordance with federal standards and local code
requirements. The new ramp was concealed by landscaping and a decorative, low, masonry wall.



I\éP8SG;=orm 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 7 Page 4 BELLEVIEW SCHOOL/CITY HALL
Belleview, Marion County, Florida

Window openings and ledges were maintained as steel sash, six over six windows were installed in 1995
to replace the original wood sash windows. Sometime previously, window openings in the tower were bricked
in to prevent accidents. Also during the restoration/renovation in 1995, partitions were reconfigured for office
spaces. The second pair of double doors to the entries at the front arcade entrance of the main building and the
east exits were removed. New exterior doors were installed in the existing openings of all exits.

A partition was installed to divide the commission meeting room into a conference room and an office.
Baseboard and interior door moldings were restored, and surrounds were maintained with original or duplicated
on new openings. The badly damaged interior doors were replaced. The original hard wood floors were
restored and covered with commercial grade carpet. All of the wiring and plumbing was replaced and asbestos
was removed as the original high ceilings were dropped for space to install heating and air conditioning ducts.
(See 1995 to Present Floor plan) The wood steps to the attic were replaced and insulation was installed in the
attic.

Cafeteria

The cafeteria/storage annex built around 1949, maintains its original regular ground plan and general
exterior appearance. The building was constructed with concrete blocks and has a front gabled roof with
exposed rafter tails. Originally the roof was surfaced with interlocking asphalt shingles, which were replaced in
1989 with fiberglass shingles. The entrance overhang on the front or south elevation was replaced in 1995. The
original 6 over 6 small pane, wood sash windows remain in place and are in good condition along with the brick
window ledges. (Photo 6) The interior has been partitioned for use as storage space.
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SUMMARY

Belleview School/ City Hall, constructed in 1928 by the Marion County Board of Public Instruction for
a grammar school to consolidate many small grammar schools scattered around the area, has local significance
under Criterion A in the area of Education. It is significant under Criterion C because with its Mediterranean
Revival features it embodies distinctive characteristics of the 1920s period in the area of Architecture. The
Belleview School/City Hall is an example of the importance of education amid the prosperity and development
of the 1920s in Belleview and Marion County, and is the most prominent and significant historic building of the
1920s remaining in the City of Belleview.

HISTORIC CONTEXT

Limited white settlement in the Belleview area dates back to the 1842 Armed Occupation Act, when for
a small fee, the act permitted 160 acres of land to settlers who were willing to bear arms against the Indians in
the unsettled part of the peninsula of Florida. After five years a deed would be issued, providing they had built
a house, and cleared and planted five acres.

No battles were fought in the Belleview area during the Civil War, although local landowners fought
with Marion County units in the Confederate Army. Reconstruction years saw a decrease in the large
plantations, with their labor intensive crops of sugar cane and cotton, and an increase of citrus groves, especially
in South Marion County. Timber and turpentine were the other major industries from the 1860s through the
1880s in the Belleview area.

Railroads played a major part in the resettlement of Marion County after the war. In the 1850s, David
Levy Yulee had built The Florida Railroad Company Line from Fernandina (near the Florida/ Georgia east coast
border) through Gainesville to Cedar Key. Tourists coming to enjoy the mild winters increased in 1881, when
The Florida Transit Railroad built a line from Waldo to Ocala. Many of the tourists became settlers or annual
winter visitors. In 1882, the Peninsula Division extended a line from Ocala south through Belleview. The
Florida Railroad & Navigation Company was organized from the above lines in 1884. The first Belleview Post
Office was established, with Charles A. Babb as Postmaster and Depot Agent in 1884. The mail arrived every
evening by train, which also transported local produce to northern markets.

News of the railroad expansion through south Marion County prompted settlers to apply for documents
and establish homes and small farms in the Belleview area. They included: Frank Toney, David E. Stroble,
David Johnson, and John F. Pelot. Purchasing land from the farmers, the Marion Land & Improvement
Company was incorporated February 19, 1884, to develop the Town of Belleview. The principal shareholders
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(each holding 82 shares) were; C. L. Robinson, from Jacksonville, President; E. W. Agnew, of Ocala, Vice
President; Col. John F. Dunn, of Ocala, Treasurer; Rev. H. Woodward, from New Hampshire, Secretary; C. A.
Babb, Marion County; and J. H. Foss, Newport, Massachusetts.

The developers gave the new settlement a name sure to attract the northern investors from New England
who came as tourists by railroad to enjoy the mild winters and the “beautiful view” of the Belleview area.
Another version says the name came from Belle Pelot, daughter of John Pelot. Lake Lillian, it is believed, was
named for Mrs. Foss, wife of one of the shareholders . Settlers from New England, where Belleview was
marketed, built homes in the new town.

Belleview was incorporated in 1885. Voter registration books opened April 13 - 30 at the “Oasis,” the
store of Trask and Newman, located at the corner of SE Front and Hames Roads. The first election was held in
May of 1885, with 70 votes cast. The officials elected included: Mayor Alfred Stetson; Clerk J. J. Williams;
and Aldermen James Penfield, R. C. Ridge, C. A. Babb, W. E. Strong, C. F. Trask, D. J. Fogg, and M. L. Smith.
The first Marshall was G. H. Cone. The plat filed on August 18, 1885, for the Town of Belleview, shows a
school located on previous Stroble property.

The Marion County Public School System was organized in January of 1877, under Superintendent Rev.
H. C. Martin. M. L. Payne became Superintendent in 1881, holding the office for sixteen years until 1897. In
the early years funding was very limited, but allowed the County to provide teachers and textbooks to the many
small settlements, towns and small cities. The local Trustees were responsible for providing and maintaining a
building suitable for the instruction of area children. The school year varied from three (3) to five (5) months.

By 1884, there were 70 local schools in the Marion County system. Small farms and large plantations
flourished on the rich soil of central Marion County. The Belleview area was growing as well. In 1884,
trustees from Belleview petitioned the county for a school building, but their request was denied due to a lack of
available funds.

The Marion Land & Improvement Company donated land on SE Robinson Road to the Town in 1885.
The Company built a one story frame building with a gable roof and a steeple with a bell on the land. The
Crystal Metal Frame Bell, made by C. S. Bell Co. of Hillsboro, Ohio, called the children to class. Belleview
was listed as No. 43 out of 103 schools in Marion County according to Marion County Board of Public
Instruction minutes dated, July 5, 1886. The Marion Land and Improvement Company also donated land to the
Town in the park area overlooking Lake Lillian. Some time after 1886, the company built a two room school
building, which they referred to as “an educational temple.” By 1891, Board Minutes identified 113 schools in
the County system with Belleview, a school for white children, designated as No. 89. A major fire on January
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8, 1904, burned the “Belleview Block,” including the Town Hall, Chapel, M. L. & I Company’s store and hotel,
the Library Reading Room, and several residences.

"HISTORIC SIGNIFICANCE

At the end of the school year of 1920-21, Marion County had 56 schools for white children, and 49
schools for colored children, only one meeting state accreditation standards. During the 1920s, a plan
developed by the Superintendent to consolidate schools in Marion County reduced the 105 small local schools
to 44 large schools serving area children. By 1927, population growth and economic prosperity in Marion
County provided funds for four new grammar schools. Belleview’s two room school was so over crowded,
(City Hall was again being used for classes), that the Marion County Board of Public Instruction approved the
construction of one of four new school buildings to be in Belleview. Lot 4 of Block 61 was the chosen site,
with frontage on the North/South Dixie Highway, providing easy access for area children. The school site was
surrounded by small vegetable and poultry farms. The county obtained a deed from J. N. Shedd, a local
carpenter, who grew watermelons on the land. The Board accepted the $30,000 bid from Monroe Chamblis
National Bank in Ocala to finance the new Belleview School, in Special District # 3. The Mediterranean
Revival style Belleview School was designed by Architect, E. C. Hosford and built by Alfred W. Smith.

From the beginning, the Belleview School played an important role in the community. The auditorium
was used for a Home Demonstration display in September, even before classes began in October of 1928. In
November, a play called, “The Neighbors,” was presented by the Belleview Players, and an Armistice Day
observance was held in the large auditorium.

Trucks carried much of the area’s produce to northern markets and use of the railroad diminished.
About 1932, Gale’s Store near the railroad depot burned along with the post office located there. The post
office moved to the intersection of Hwy. 441 and 484, which became the new business district. Across the busy
highway from the Belleview School, a lumber mill operated by J. J. Bottelman employed area people in the
1940s. Growth and development continued along the highway after World War II. In 1950, the Chamber of
Commerce was organized to serve the growing business community. The Bank of Belleview, now South Trust
Bank, was built adjacent to Belleview School on the east side in 1953. State Highway 27/301/441 was widened
in the late 1950s. Gradually area businesses located along both sides of the busy highway to form a new
business center that served the growing area around and inside the city limits.

The Town of Belleview became the City of Belleview in 1965, with 300 registered voters inside the
corporate limits. The same year State Road # Alternate 441, 301, 25, or Agnew Avenue, was renamed Abshier
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Boulevard within the city limits. A new elementary school was also constructed in 1965, leaving the historic
Belleview School in need of a new owner, and it was advertised for sale by the Board of Public Instruction.

At a special meeting held on May 26, 1965, the council members of the City of Belleview voted to
purchase the 1928 Belleview School for $53,200. Located prominently in the center of town, on the main
thoroughfare and business district of the City, the commanding Spanish Eclectic Mission Style architecture of
the Belleview School represented the importance of government in the development of the growing City. The
Chamber of Commerce used the vacant Belleview School for offices during the summer of 1965. The deed
from the County to the City was dated December 7, 1965. Remodeling of the large classrooms of the 1928
Belleview School for City Hall and Police Department offices was approved.

Business expansion continued along HWY #441 during the 1970s and 1980s. The SAL railroad depot
was moved to Lot 4 in 1982 for use by the Chamber of Commerce. By 1989 the sixty-one year old Belleview
School/City Hall needed a new roof to replace the original asphalt shingles. Wiring and plumbing were also a
serious hazard. The auditorium, used for storage because of its deteriorated condition, was restored for use as
the Commission Meeting Room. The 1995 restoration/renovation restored the Belleview School/City Hall to its
former glory and prominent focal position as the heart of the City of Belleview.

ARCHITECTURAL CONTEXT and SIGNIFICANCE

Mediterranean Revival is an eclectic style containing architectural elements with Spanish of Mid-eastern
precedents. Found in those states that have a Spanish colonial heritage, Mediterranean Revival broadly defines
the Mission, Moorish, Turkish, Byzantine, and Spanish Eclectic revival styles which became popular in the
Southwest and Florida. Mediterranean Revival buildings in Florida display considerable Spanish influence.
The style was popular during the 1920s, and its use continued after the collapse of the boom and in the 1930s.
Identifying features of the style include flat or hip roofs, usually with some form of parapet; ceramic tile roof
surfacing; stuccoed facades; entrance porches, commonly with arched openings supported by square columns;
casement and double-hung sash windows; and ceramic tile decorations.

The architectural design of the Belleview School/City Hall includes several notable Spanish Eclectic
features. This is exemplified by the rich variety and combination of forms in the building. External elements
include: stucco over masonry, curvilinear parapets, and a tile roofed bell tower. The building gives a sense of
scale, proportion, and detail that creates an aesthetically pleasing form.

Belleview School/City Hall is one of the few remaining examples of the 1920s economic prosperity that
allowed Marion County to consolidate many small area schools serving a few children, into large central
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buildings that served many area children. The Spanish Eclectic, Mission influenced style grammar school
represented the importance of education in Marion County in the 1920s. The large building is highly visible to
all who pass through Belleview and south Marion County on the main thoroughfare of Highway # 441, 301, 27.
The history of shared buildings makes it appropriate that the city government should now occupy the
historically significant Belleview School, restored as one of the most important historic buildings in the City of
Belleview.
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BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The Belleview School/City Hall was established on Lot 4, approximately 7.6 acres of a 17.5 Acre parcel
containing lots 3 and 4 in Block 61, of the 1885 plat. Lot 4 contains the original 1928 Belleview School and a
Cafeteria annex built around 1949, historic buildings associated with the school. It is bordered by SE Abshier
Blvd., Highway 441/ 301/ 27, on the south, a vacant lot on the west, Lot 3, on the north, which contains the
Belleview Police Department, and an access alley and South Trust Bank on the east. (See Site Map)

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The boundaries incorporate those contributing elements historically associated with the Belleview
School. Lot 3 is excluded because it was farmed or vacant land until 1995 when the City of Belleview erected a
metal building as headquarters for the Belleview Police Department. In addition, a valuation analysis prepared
for the City of Belleview, valued only the school buildings and Lot 4.
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PHOTOGRAPHIC INVENTORY

Acerial view of The Belleview School, 5343 SE Abshier Boulevard
Belleview, Marion County, Florida

Joyce E. Cusick (1959 unknown)

1998 retake of historic photo c. 1959

Belleview City Hall, 5343 SE Abshier Boulevard,

Aerial, front elevation and roof camera facing north

Photo # 1 of 18

NownkWb e~

The Belleview School, 5343 SE Abshier Boulevard
Belleview, Marion County, Florida

Joyce E. Cusick (historic photographer unknown)
1998 (historic date unknown)

Belleview City Hall, 5343 SE Abshier Boulevard,
Front elevation and roof camera facing northwest
Photo #2 of 18
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The Belleview School / City Hall, 5343 SE Abshier Boulevard
Belleview, Marion County, Florida

Joyce E. Cusick

1998

Belleview City Hall, 5343 SE Abshier Boulevard,

Front elevation camera facing northwest

Photo # 3 of 18
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Items 1-5 are the same for the remaining photographs unless otherwise noted:

6. Front elevation, camera facing north east
7. Photo #4 of 18

6. Rear and west side elevations, Camera facing south east
7. Photo#5 of 18
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—

Cafeteria / Storage Building
Front and east elevations, camera facing north west
7. Photo # 6 of 18

&

SCL Railroad Depot, 5301 SE Abshier Boulevard
. Front and west elevations, Camera facing north east
7. Photo #7 of 18

O\ —

Belleview School Bell, front and base
. Camera facing south west
7. Photo# 8 of 18

N —

Belleview School / City Hall, Bell Tower
. Exterior, Front elevation, Camera facing north
7. Photo #9 of 18

O\ —

6. Arched entrance main building, front elevation, Camera facing north west
7. Photo# 10 0f 18

6. Rear elevation, Camera facing south west
7. Photo# 11 0of 18

6. Interior, Arched entrance main building, Camera facing south
7. Photo# 12 0of 18

6. Interior, Main hallway and offices, Camera facing east
7. Photo # 13 of 18

6. Interior, Auditorium Entrance, Camera facing south
7. Photo# 14 of 18

6. Interior, Auditorium Interior Entrance, Camera facing north
7. Photo# 15 0f 18

6. Interior, Auditorium / City Commission Room, Camera facing north
7. Photo# 16 of 18
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6. Interior, Auditorium school seats, stored in basement, Camera facing north
7. Photo# 17 of 18

6. Interior, basement, original boiler room, Camera facing north
7. Photo # 18 of 18
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